
 

                              
 
 
 
 

January 22, 2019 
Via FOIAonline 
 
Melanie Ann Pustay  
Director, Office of Information Policy (OIP) 
U.S. Department of Justice, Suite 11050 
1425 New York Avenue, NW 
Washington, D.C. 20530-0001 
 
Re: FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT APPEAL/ 

REQUEST NOS. NFP-102340; NFP-102341 
 

To Whom It May Concern: 
 
 The American Civil Liberties Union Foundation (“ACLU”) and the Center for Media 
Justice (“CMJ”) appeal the response by the Federal Bureau of Investigation (“FBI”) to a 
Freedom of Information Act (“FOIA”) request (“Request,” attached as Exhibit A).  The Request, 
which is dated October 31, 2018, seeks records relating to FBI surveillance of Black people on 
the basis of a purported shared ideology.  We request expedited processing of this appeal.  See 28 
C.F.R. § 16.5(e). 
 

The Request seeks three categories of records: (1) all records created since January 1, 
2014, that use any of the following terms or abbreviations: “Black Identity Extremist” (“BIE”), 
“Black Nationalist” (“BN”), “Black Separatist” (“BS”), or “Black Supremacist Extremists” 
(“BSE”), Exhibit A at 5 (paragraph 1); (2) all records referencing, or created in response to, 
public and Congressional inquiries or reactions to the existence or contents of the FBI 
Intelligence Assessment titled “Black Identity Extremists Likely Motivated to Target Law 
Enforcement Officers,” Exhibit A at 5 (paragraph 2); and (3) all records created since January 1, 
2014, that reference  “extremist” violence committed by Black people in the United States, 
including but not limited to individuals described as “Black Identity Extremists,” “Black 
Nationalists,” “Black Separatist Extremists,”  “Black Separatists,” or “Black Supremacist 
Extremists,” Exhibit A at 5 (paragraph 3).       
 
 The FBI assigned two separate request numbers to two of the three record categories 
identified in the Request, and responded in two separate letters, each dated November 2, 2018.  
See Exhibit B (responding to paragraph 1 (Request No. NFP-102340)); Exhibit C (responding to 
paragraph 3 (Request No. NFP-102341)) (collectively, the “Responses”).  The FBI refused to 
search for records responsive to the Request set forth in paragraphs 1 and 3, asserting that the 
Request “does not contain enough descriptive information to permit a search.”  See Exhibit B at 
1; Exhibit C at 1.     
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The FBI failed to respond at all to the third category of records, see Exhibit A at 5 
(paragraph 2).  Because the FBI did not make or communicate a determination within the 
statutorily prescribed period, the ACLU and CMJ have duly exhausted administrative remedies 
with respect to this subset of records.  See Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in Washington 
v. Federal Election Com’n, 711 F.3d 180, 184 (D.C. Cir. 2013) (“[I]f an agency fails to make 
and communicate its ‘determination’ whether to comply with a FOIA request within certain 
statutory timelines, the requester ‘shall be deemed to have exhausted his administrative 
remedies.’” (quoting 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(C)(i)). 

 
The ACLU and CMJ appeal the Responses because the Request seeks records that are 

“reasonably described,” 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(3)(A).  To the extent that the FBI’s failure to disclose 
responsive records stems from a failure to search for the requested information or improper 
withholding, the ACLU and CMJ challenge those failures as well.   

 
I. The Requested Records are Reasonably Described  

To fulfill FOIA’s “strong presumption in favor of disclosure,” U.S. Dep’t of State v. Ray, 
502 U.S. 164, 173 (1991), agencies are statutorily mandated to “make . . . records promptly 
available to any person” who submits a request that “(i) reasonably describes such records and 
(ii) is made in accordance with [the agency’s] published rules.”  Republican Nat’l Comm. v. 
Dep’t of State, 235 F. Supp. 3d 235, 239 (D.D.C. 2016) (alteration in original) (quoting 5 U.S.C. 
§ 552(a)(3)(A)); see also 28 C.F.R. § 16.3(b) (“Requesters must describe the records sought in 
sufficient detail to enable Department personnel to locate them with a reasonable amount of 
effort.”).  The FBI does not allege that the Request fails to follow the agency’s rules, and thus 
that condition has been met.  See Exhibit B; Exhibit C.  
 

Records are reasonably described if the description “enable[s] a professional employee of 
the agency who [i]s familiar with the subject area of the request to locate the record with a 
reasonable amount of effort.”  Truitt v. Dep’t of State, 897 F.2d 540, 545 n.36 (D.C. Cir. 1990) 
(internal quotation mark omitted) (quoting H.R. Rep. No. 93-876, at 5–6 (1974), as reprinted 
in 1974 U.S.C.C.A.N. 6267, 6271); accord, e.g., Marks v. U.S. Dep’t. of Justice, 578 F.2d 261, 
263 (9th Cir. 1978); Dixon v. U.S. Dep’t of Justice, No. CV 16-1010 (TSC), 2017 WL 3638179, 
at *2 (D.D.C. Aug. 23, 2017) (quoting Armstrong v. Bush, 139 F.R.D. 547, 553 (D.D.C. 1991)).  
“When the request demands all agency records on a given subject then the agency is obliged to 
pursue any ‘clear and certain’ lead it cannot in good faith ignore.”  Halpern v. FBI, 181 F.3d 
279, 288 (2d Cir. 1999) (quoting Kowalczyk v. Dep’t of Justice, 73 F.3d 386, 389 (D.C. Cir. 
1996)).  Moreover, “[i]n evaluating the description of the records sought and defining the scope 
of the concomitant search, an agency ‘ha[s] a duty to construe a FOIA request liberally.’”  
Republican Nat’l Comm., 235 F. Supp. 3d at 239 (alteration in original) (quoting People for the 
Ethical Treatment of Animals v. Nat’l Insts. of Health, 745 F.3d 535, 540 (D.C. Cir. 2014)).  
Thus, “the government must use ‘some semblance of common sense’ in interpreting FOIA 
requests, and any ambiguous FOIA requests must be interpreted ‘liberally.’”  Pinson v. U.S. 
Dep’t of Justice, 70 F. Supp. 3d 111, 121 (D.D.C. 2014) (quoting Dale v. IRS, 238 F. Supp. 2d 
99, 105 (D.D.C. 2002) and LaCedra v. Exec. Office for U.S. Attorneys, 317 F.3d 345, 348 (D.C. 
Cir. 2003), respectively). 
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Here, paragraphs 1 and 3 of the Request identify the records sought in sufficient detail to 
enable an employee to locate them with a reasonable amount of effort.  Paragraph 1 seeks “all 
records” created in a specific time period that use any of eight specific words, abbreviations or 
plurals: “Black Identity Extremist,” “BIE,” “Black Nationalist,” “BN,” “Black Separatist,” “BS,” 
“Black Supremacist Extremist,” and “BSE.”  Exhibit A at 5.  Similarly, paragraph 3 of the 
Request seeks “all records” created in a specific time period that reference “extremist” violence 
committed by Black people.  Exhibit A at 5.  The FBI is obliged to pursue the clear and certain 
lead of conducting searches for records created during the specified date ranges that use at least 
the precise words or abbreviations identified in paragraphs 1 and 3 of the Request.  See Exhibit A 
at 5.  “[K]eyword searches in response to FOIA requests are routine.”  Davidson v. United States, 
264 F. Supp. 3d 97, 109 (D.D.C. 2017) (alteration in original) (quoting Freedom Watch, Inc. v. 
Nat’l Sec. Agency, 220 F. Supp. 3d 40, 45 (D.D.C. 2016)).   

 
Moreover, paragraphs 1 and 3 of the Request specifically seek records that “use” or 

“reference” precise terms and abbreviations within a certain limited date range.  Exhibit A at 5.  
As explained in Shapiro v. Central Intelligence Agency, “there is a difference in kind between 
requests for documents that ‘mention’ or ‘reference’ a specified person or topic and those 
seeking records ‘pertaining to,’ ‘relating to,’ or ‘concerning’ the same.” 170 F. Supp. 3d 147, 
155 (D.D.C. 2016).  Requests that seek records that use or reference identified terms 
“precisely describe the records sought” and thereby meet FOIA’s reasonable description 
requirement.  Id. (alteration in original); see also Am. Civil Liberties Union of N. California v. 
Dep’t of Justice, No. 12-CV-04008-MEJ, 2014 WL 4954121, at *7 (N.D. Cal. Sept. 30, 2014) 
(holding plaintiffs’ requests for “[a]ll requests, subpoenas, and applications for court orders or 
warrants seeking location information since January 1, 2008” satisfied FOIA’s reasonable 
description requirement).  

 
The Request’s precise request for all records that reference or use certain terms is a far 

cry from the cases in which courts have found that FOIA requests failed to reasonably describe 
the requested records.  For example, in Landmark Legal Foundation v. Department of Justice, 
the court held that a request for “‘[r]ecords evincing the use of’ personal email accounts and 
other electronic communication and social media platforms to conduct government business” did 
not reasonably describe the records requested because it “d[id] not enable a professional DOJ 
employee to determine what records are being sought.”  211 F. Supp. 3d 311, 318 (D.D.C. 2016) 
(first alteration in original).  The court explained that the plaintiff did “not define ‘evince,’ nor 
explain how a record can ‘evince’ the use of personal email or social media accounts” and that 
the request did “not ask for specific records, but rather for any records that might suggest that 
other records exist.”  Id.; see, e.g., Yagman v. Pompeo, 868 F.3d 1075, 1078, 1081 (9th Cir. 
2017) (holding request for “[r]ecords/information” on “the names and company/organization 
affiliations of any CIA employees, agents, operatives, contractors, mercenaries, and/or 
companies who are alleged to have engaged in torture of persons” not reasonably described 
because “Defendants would need to engage in quite a bit of guesswork to execute Yagman’s 
request.” (first alteration original)); Freedom Watch, Inc. v. C.I.A., 895 F. Supp. 2d 221, 228–29 
(D.D.C. 2012) (finding a request to be “vague” where it sought “any and all information ‘leaked’ 
or otherwise provided about a draft version of” a document because “the term ‘leaks’ [was] not 
defined” and processing would require “federal employees to make complicated determinations 
about whether crimes have been committed”) (internal citation omitted)).   
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In sharp contrast to these cases, this Request seeks records that use or reference precise 

terms and were created during a limited period of time.  Because such records are reasonably 
described, the FBI is obligated to make the requested information promptly available.  Notably, 
the FBI has not alleged, much less shown, that a search for records responsive to paragraphs 1 
and 3 of the Request would be unreasonably burdensome.   

 
II. Failure to Conduct an Adequate Search 

 “An inadequate search for records constitutes an improper withholding under the FOIA.” 
Dean v. U.S. Dep’t of Justice, 141 F. Supp. 3d 46, 48 (D.D.C. 2015). “An agency’s search is 
adequate if its methods are reasonably calculated to locate records responsive to a FOIA 
request.”  Hodge v. FBI, 764 F. Supp. 2d 134, 141 (D.D.C. 2011); see also 28 C.F.R. § 16.3(b) 
(explaining that FOIA requires agencies to “locate [records requested] with a reasonable amount 
of effort.”).   

 
An obvious first step to conducting an adequate search would be to search records of the 

FBI Counterterrorism Division, which created the Intelligence Assessment (the “Assessment”), 
entitled “Black Identity Extremists Likely Motivated to Target Law Enforcement Officers.”  See 
FBI, Black Identity Extremists Likely Motivated to Target Law Enforcement Officers at 1, 7 
(Aug. 3, 2017), https://www.documentcloud.org/documents/4067711-BIE-Redacted.html.  The 
“endnotes” to this Assessment cite numerous sources created by the FBI to support statements 
that use terms included in the Request, such as “BIE.”  Id. at 10–11 (citing FBI “Information[s]” 
dated November 8, 2016; October 31, 2016; August 2, 2016; August 1, 2016; July 29, 2016; July 
21, 2016; July 14, 2016; July 13, 2016; July 12, 2016; July 1, 2016; March 20, 2016; June 17, 
2015; and November 1, 2014; FBI “Electronic Communication[s]” dated November 10, 2016; 
November 9, 2016; October 6, 2016; October 4, 2016; September 14, 2016;  September 13, 
2016; July 17, 2016; June 30, 2016; August 31, 2015; August 29, 2015; November 6, 2014; 
November 1, 2014; October 24, 2014; October 23, 2014; and September 9, 2014; Joint 
Intelligence Bulletin dated October 27, 2014; FBI Primer January 2014).  Moreover, given that 
FBI Director Christopher Wray met with members of the Congressional Black Caucus to address 
their concerns regarding the Assessment, additional documents discussing the subject of the 
Assessment—documents that would be responsive to at least paragraph 1 the Request—would 
likely be found during an adequate search.  See Max Kutner, Black Cong. Members to Meet with 
FBI Dir. Over ‘Black Identity Extremists’ Memo (Nov. 11, 2017), 
http://www.newsweek.com/congressional-black-caucus-black-identity-extremists-fbi-700248; 
Max Kutner, FBI’s ‘Black Identity Extremists’ Assessment Spurs Questions from Lawmakers 
(Nov. 29, 2017), http://www.newsweek.com/black-congressional-caucus-fbi-identity-extremists-
726514. 

 
By failing to disclose records responsive to paragraphs 1 and 3 of the Request within the 

applicable timeframe and failing to provide a plausible justification for nondisclosure, the FBI 
has violated 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A).  To the extent that this failure is attributable to the 
inadequacy of the FBI’s search for responsive records, the FBI violated 5 U.S.C. 
§§ 552(a)(3)(C), (D).   
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III. Improper Withholding of Records 

The FBI has an obligation under FOIA not to withhold documents improperly from a 
requestor.  5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B).  The FBI has failed to disclose any records responsive to 
paragraphs 1 or 3 of the Request, and it has also failed to justify any withholding on the basis of 
specific FOIA exemptions.  To the extent that the FBI is withholding records under asserted 
FOIA exemptions, it has not met its burden to provide “detailed” and “specific” justifications for 
why any claimed exemptions apply to the records sought.  See Ray, 502 U.S. at 173 (“[B]urden 
[is] on the agency to justify the withholding of any requested documents”); see generally Vaughn 
v. Rosen, 484 F.2d 820, 826 (D.C. Cir. 1973) (“[C]ourts will simply no longer accept conclusory 
and generalized allegations of exemptions”). 

 
*    *   * 

 
The Responses violate FOIA by refusing to search for records responsive to the Request 

despite the fact that the records sought are reasonably described.   
 
In accordance with FOIA, we expect a response within 20 working days.  See 5 U.S.C. § 

552(a)(6)(A)(ii).  
 
 Thank you for your prompt attention to this appeal. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
  /s/ Nusrat J. Choudhury            
Nusrat J. Choudhury 
Deputy Director  
Joshua David Riegel 
Attorney, Marvin M. Karpatin Fellow 
Racial Justice Program    
       
Asma Peracha 
Hugh Handeyside 
National Security Project 
 
American Civil Liberties Union Foundation 
125 Broad Street—18th Floor  
New York, New York 10004 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Steven Renderos 
Senior Campaigns Director 
Center for Media Justice 
436 14th Street—Suite 500 
Oakland, California 94612 
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EXHIBIT A 
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EXHIBIT C 

ACLU-CMJ_00047



ACLU-CMJ_00048



ACLU-CMJ_00049



ACLU-CMJ_00050


	Exs A B C.pdf
	Ex. A - Black Identity Extremists FOIA 10312018
	Ex. B - Black Identity Extremists FOIA Response Para 1 11022018
	Ex. C - Black Identity Extremists FOIA Response Para 3 11022018




